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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

EDGAR BENAVIDEZ, ALI KAZI,
MARVIN CASTANEDA, IVAN PERALTA-
CABRERA, LUIS VICTORIA, PATRICK
DESROSIERS, ROCIO RIBEIRO,
DOUGLAS MOLINA, WILLIAM
ACAPANA, RODOLPHO OYARIDE,
FERNANDO FAJARDO, JAIME DIAZ,
ALBERTO GONZALES, KLEVER
ORDONEZ, AMIR SOTO, MARCELO
VILLACIS, ANGEL CAMPOVERDE,
JAMES LOPEZ, IVAN P. ABRIL, MARIA No. 3:16-cv-191 (VAB)
JARILLO, FREDI SOTO, and NILO
HUYHUA, on behalf of themselves and
others similarly situated

Plaintiffs,

V.

GREENWICH HOTEL LIMITED
PARTNERSHIPd/b/a Hyatt Regency
Greenwich HYATT EQUITIES, L.L.C., and
HYATT CORPORATION,

Defendants.

RULING AND ORDER ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

On March 7, 2018, Greenwich Hotel Limitedrta@rship, Hyatt Equities, L.L.C., and the
Hyatt Corporation (collectively, “Defendanjghoved for summaryugdgment against Edgar
Benavidez, Ali Kazi, Marvin Castaneda, lvan Rar&abrera, Luis Victaa, Patrick Desrosiers,
Rocio Ribeiro, Douglas Molina, William AcapanRodolpho Oyaride, Fernando Fajardo, Jaime
Diaz, Alberto Gonzales, Klever Ordonez, ArSioto, Marcelo Villacis, Angel Campoverde,
James Lopez, lvan P. Abril, Maria Jarilkredi Soto, and Nilbduyhua (“Plaintiffs”).See
Motion for Summary Judgmerdated Mar. 7, 2018 (“MoSumm. J.”), ECF No. 101,

Defendants’ Memorandum of Law in Support of Mot. Summ. J., dated Mar. 7, 2018 (“Defs.’
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Mem.”), ECF No. 101-1; Defendants’ Local R&@&(a)(1) Statement of Undisputed Material
Facts in Support of Mot. Summ. J., datdar. 7, 2018 (“Defs.” SMF”), ECF No. 101-2.

On April 25, 2018, Plaintiffs opposed Defendants’ mot®eePlaintiffs’ Memorandum
in Opposition to Mot. Summ. J., dated ApB, 2018 (“Pls.” Opp.”), ECF No. 106-1; Plaintiffs’
Local Rule 56(a)(2) Statement of Facts ippOsition to Mot. Summ. J., dated Apr. 25, 2018
(“Pls.” SMF”), ECF No. 106.

For the following reasons, Defendamtsotion for summary judgment GRANTED IN
PART AND DENIED IN PART .

Defendants’ motion is granted with respecthe federal claims, but denied with respect
to the Connecticut law claims, which are dismissed without prejudice to refiling in state court.
l. FACTUAL AND PROC EDURAL BACKGROUND

A. Factual Allegations'

Plaintiffs have all been employed asifaet servers at the Hif Regency Greenwich
hotel, located at 1800 East Putnam Avenu®loh Greenwich, Connecticut. First Amended
Complaint, dated Sept. 19, 2016 (“Am. ComplECF No. 37-3, { 1. Edgar Benavidez, Ali
Kazi, Marvin Castaneda, lvan Peralta-Cabrera, Luis Victoria, Patrick Desrosiers, William
Acapana, Rodolfo Oyaride, Fernando FdgarJaime Diaz, Alberto Gonzales, Amir Soto,
Marcelo Villacis, Angel Campoverde, James Lopdaria Jarillo, and Fredi Soto have all been
employed by Defendants as banquet servers for at least tenS@asks1. Compl. 19 46-51, 54—
58, 60-63, 65—66. Rocio Ribeiro, Douglas Molina, Kle@rdonez, and Nilo Huyhua have all

been employed as banquet sgs/for at least six yearsl. 1 52, 53, 59, 67.

I The following facts are undisputed unless indicated otherwise.
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Plaintiffs allege that Ivan P. Abril hagén employed as a banquetvse at the hotel for
approximately eighteen yeatd. | 64. Defendants admit that Wwas previously employed as a
banquet server, but deny that he has been empfoy@ighteen years. Answer to First Amended
Complaint, dated Dec. 16, 2016 (“Am. Ans.BCF NO. 62, at 14. They do not provide an
alternative estimate of the length of his employmieht.

Plaintiffs all reside in éher Fairfield County, Connectit or Westchester County, New
York. Am. Compl. T 6-27.

Greenwich Hotel Limited Partnership is ailied partnership orgamed under the laws of
Connecticut, and is the owner of the Hyatt RexyeGreenwich hotel. Answer to First Amended
Complaint, dated Dec. 16, 2016 (“Am. Ans.”), EBGIO. 62, at 8. Hyatt Equities, L.L.C. (“Hyatt
Equities”) is a limited liability corporation incoopated in Delaware, and is the general partner
of Greenwich Hotel Limited Partnershig. at 9. The Hyatt Corporation (“Hyatt Corp.”) is a
limited liability corporation incorporated in Bavare, and is the agent of Greenwich Hotel
Limited Partnershipld. at 9.

Plaintiffs allege that, atllaelevant times, they were employees of Defendants, and were
jointly employed by Defendants. Am. Compl. 28], 40. Defendants deny that they were joint
employers, and admit only that “Plaintiffs weneployees of Hyatt Corporation d/b/a Hyatt
Regency Greenwich.” Am. Ans. at 7.

1. Allegations as to Job Duties

As banquet servers, Plaintiffs have serakdpecial events held at the Hyatt Regency
Greenwich, such as conferences, weddinggd,adher life celebrations. Their regular duties
include: “the collecting and detg up of equipment needed fihe event; setting up tables;

taking orders from customers; carrying traysaoles; serving food toustomers; all other



general service that customers need and requéaning tables aftevents; breaking down the
room after events; and all other work neettedhysically set up ents and clean up after
them.” Am. Compl. | 76.

Three other categories of employees ala@ab functions reked to these events:
housemen, bartenders, and banquet captains. Am. Compl. 1 71-85.

A houseman’s regular dutieciode “the settingip of banquet rooms; the resetting of
them to their original state after the event t@ascluded; and during thevent, assisting banquet
servers and transporting tableslaquipment.” Am. Compl. | 77.

A bartender’s regular duties include “thetting up of the bar for the event; making
drinks during the evenand the breaking down ofdftbar after the eventld. { 78.

The parties dispute the scope @ tkegular duties cd banquet captain.

Plaintiffs generally allegthat banquet captains “havedhand continue to have, the
power to control the banqustrvers, bartenders and housenemployed within the banquet
department at the Hotel, including Plaintiff&d’ § 71. Plaintiffs have identified four specific
individuals as banquet captainstheir Amended ComplainDan Ridell, George Mickaiel,
Dennis Carrington, and Francis Tobibk.{ 70.

Specifically, they allege that the banqoaptains are “the supasors of the banquet
events and supervise the bangeters, bartenders and househvehnile these employees
perform their work; i.e., the Cagihs are the bosses of theseptyees during the set-up of the

banquets, the actual banqyetsd breakdown of themld. { 72. At pre-shift meetings, Plaintiffs

2The Amended Complaint uses the term “houseman,” a singular noun, as a plural noun ia partiglaphSee,
e.g, Am. Compl. § 77 (“The regular duties that housear@required to perform . . . .") (emphasis added). The
Court assumes these are typographical errors and has correcteélrtheghout, rather than indicating the
alterations with brackets.



allege that “the Captains adei the banquet servers and housedaieil pertinent information
concerning the upcoming events including the mekl.y 73.

Plaintiffs allege that “at g-shift meetings, as well as during the events, the Captains
assign particular tables to each banqueteseand assign various duties to banquet servers
including the service of hors d’'oeres, the cleanup of the reception area, the final work needed
to set up the room, the refilling of water glass$ies,supplying of bread and butter to tables, and
the maintenance of candles on the tables.f 74. Plaintiffs alsolkege that “at pre-shift
meetings, as well as during the events, the &apassign the housemen duties with respect to
the setting up and refreshing of thanterence and food arnmbverage roomslId. | 75.

Plaintiffs allege that “[fhe Captains do not perform abgnquet server, houseman or

bartender duties; rather, they only perform suigenduties by which they supervise those types
of employees.ld. | 79. Plaintiffs also allege that “[p]rido and after the events, the Captains
occasionally have superficiale minimusontacts with the customrserhowever, once the event
begins the Captains do not provide any seriadbe customers, and have typically secluded
themselves within the banquet office during titren of the banquets wé the banquet servers
serve the customers as needed, and the houserddrartenders perfortheir regular duties.”
Id. 11 80. Plaintiffs further allege that “Captaihave had the power to discipline employees,
including banquet servers, barens and housemen, and have in fact done so by, among other
things, ‘writing them up’, sending employees honteen they are late, ordering employees to
work through lunch, and punishing them sgigning them difficult tasks and to difficult
events.”ld. 1 81.

Plaintiffs allege, on information and beli#iat “all of the Captains participate in the

evaluation of employees, including Plaintiffs, dnllecting the pertinent information that is



needed to assess the performance of the emgipyrnd Ridell collects and synthesizes all the
reported information with respect to the evaluathat is eventually presented to the employee.”
Id. 1 82. Plaintiffs further allege that “Captaihave controlled thechedules of housemen,
bartenders and banquets servers, includingnfffai by among othethings, setting their
schedules; changing their schedules including sending employees home early from events;
calling them at any time, even as late as only hbefsre an event is to occur, to advise then
that they are not needed; and requitmgisemen to work as banquet servads, 83, and that
“[a]t least one of the Captains has had the pdwe@pprove or deny vatilan requests or requests
for days off for personal reasong]’ 1 84.

Defendants deny nearly all of these alteges as to the banquet captains’ dutfese
Am. Ans. at 16—-19. They admit only that “[a]epshift meetings, the Captains advise the
banqguet servers and housemealbpertinent information concerning the upcoming events
including the menu.Id. at 16 (quoting Am. Compl. 1 73).

2. The Agreement with Plaintiffs’ Union

The parties do not dispute that, sincet8mber 1, 2014, the terms and conditions of
Plaintiffs’ employment have generally been defined according to the collective bargaining
agreement between Plaintiffs’ union, UNITE HER&cal 217 and the Hyatt Corporation, as an
agent of the Greenwich Hotel Limited Raatship, doing business as the Hyatt Regency
Greenwich. Defs.” SMF | 6; Pl.’'s SMF { 6. Tlagreement recognizes that UNITE HERE Local

217 is the “sole and exclusivergaining representative withgpect to wages, hours and other

conditions of employment for all full-time and regular part-time employees” employed by the



Hyatt Regency Greenwich in the job classificasigpecified in Appendix A of the agreemént.
SeelLabor Agrmt. between Hyatt Corp., as an agdrGreenwich Hotel ld. P’ship d/b/a Hyatt
Regency Greenwich, and UNITE HERE, Local 217, effective Sept. 1, 2014—-Aug. 31, 2020
(“CBA"), annexed as Ex. B to Declaration of ManCastaneda, annexed to Pls.” Opp., ECF No.
106-4,at § 1.1.

Appendix A specifies the contract hourlyes for three “commissioned classifications”:
banquet servers/bartendgoanquet captains, and IRD [in-roatiming] servers. CBA at App’x
A. Under the contract, the base hourly pagsdor banquet servebsirtenders increase

biannually as follows:

9/1/14| 9/1/15| 3/1/16] 9/1/16 3/1/1y  9/1/A7  3/1/18 9/1{18 3/1/19 9/1/19 3/1/20
Banquet Server/| 4.90 5.01 5.12 5.23 5.35 5.47 5.60 5.72 5.85 5.97 6.10
Bartende

Banquet Captain| 7.40 7.51 62. 7.73 7.85 7.97 8.10 8.22 8.35 8.47 8.6

CBA at App’x A.

Under the CBA, events requiring banquet saawishall normally be subject to a service
charge of twenty-three percent of food, beverage, and room rental costs. CBA 8§ 30.6. Those
service charges are then plagat what the agreement des®@s as a service charge pddl.In
addition, the CBA requires that fifty percent eeg charged for any carving and pasta stations,

corkage fees, and extra staffing fees dhalbllocated to the service charge p@ahlFinally, the

3 Even where a collective bargaining@gment exists, private-sector empgeg nevertheless may bring actions to
challenge violations of their individual, nonwaivable rights to minimum wage androggraly under the FLSA.

See Barrentine v. Ark.-Best Freight $¥&0 U.S. 728, 739-41 (1981) (“[T]he FLSA was designed to give specific
minimum protections to individual woeks and to ensure that each employmeied by the Act would receive ‘[a]

fair day’s pay for a fair day’s work’ and would be protected from “the evil of ‘overwork’ as wallha@efpay.’ The
statutory enforcement scheme grants individual employees broad access to the courts. Section 16(b) of the Act, 29
U.S.C. § 216(b), which contains the principal enforcement provisions, permits an aggriglegkeernto bring his
statutory wage and hour claim ‘in any Federal or Statet@f competent jurisdiction.” This Court’s decisions
interpreting the FLSA have frequently emphasized the nonwaivable nature of an individual employee’s right to a
minimum wage and to overtime pay under the Act . . Jarig@ressionally granted FLS#ghts take precedence over
conflicting provisions in a collectively bargained compensation arrangement.”).
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CBA dictates that all of the tips received byhaet servers, captains,cabartenders are placed
into the service charge poddl.

The CBA further provides that the sewicharge pool is then allocated among the
workers as follows: 69% to banquet servers laanujuet captains, 3% tonvention services
housemen and convention services supervisnts28% to the Hyatt Regency Greenwich as an
administrative feeld.

According to the CBA, banquet dans’ duties “are to facilitetthe event and work with
the kitchen and stewarding to enstire function is prepared properlyd. In addition, absent
unusual circumstances, banquet cagtare not to be scheduled for work more than two hours
before an event's starting timiel.

3. Plaintiffs’ Allegations as to Defendants’ Pay Practices

Plaintiffs allege that the above-describerV®e charge pool arraegqent, as well as the
pool used prior to the CBA's effective datesuits in two allegedlyllegal pay practices.

First, Plaintiffs argue thddefendants “unlawfully required &htiffs to pool their tips
with banquet captains who have, and continuenemage and supervise Plaintiffs.” Am. Compl.
1 70. Second, they allege that Defendants tisidsame pool to take a tip credit against the
hourly minimum wage ta. Am. Compl. § 87.

As a result, they contend that Defendaniiedieto pay Plaintiffs a minimum wage for all
hours worked, in violation of the Fdiabor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. § 2ftIseq.and
specifically 88 203(m), 206, and 215(a)(2). Pldistiherefore seek “their unpaid minimum
wages including the amount of the tip credtlitst were taken by Defendants, damages for
unreasonably delayed payment of wages, liqudddtenages, reasonable attorneys’ fees[,] and

costs and disbursements of the actijgmjirsuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b)d. { 93.



Plaintiffs further claim that Defendants awnifully diverted “potions of Plaintiffs’
wages, the tips/gratuities they were entitled it Yiolation of Connecticut General Statute § 31-
71e, and seek to recover “the figpsituities that [Defendants]wdirted from Plaintiffs, damages
for unreasonably delayed payment of thoséddiasuities, liquidated damages, reasonable
attorneys’ fees|,] and costs and disbursementiseofiction” under Connecticut General Statute
8 31-72.d. 11 95-96 (citing ONN. GEN. STAT. 88 31-71e, 31-72).

Defendants dispute Plaintiffs’ characterizatiohisey argue, rather, that the pay structure
is not a “tip pool” at all, because the chargeissie are not tips, but mandatory service charges.
Defs.” Mem. at 3 (“Under the FLSA, thereadslear distinction betaen tips, on the one hand,
and commissions or service charges, on the ofhp. is voluntarilypaid by a guest, while a
service charge is imposed upon the guest by the hotel or restaussd.8)sdeclaration of
Tony Centrone, dated Feb. 27, 2018 (“Centrone Dedeltinexed as Ex. 1 to Defs.” SMF, 1 2-3
(“Hyatt imposes a service charge on its cugtmior banquet events at the Hyatt Regency
Greenwich. The service charge is normally 284he food and beverage and room rental
charges, though there are some variationsekample, some customers have negotiated a
different service charge percentagach as 21% or 22% . . . .&kervice charge is not optional
for customers; rather, the service charge is a mandeerm of the banquebntract, agreed to in
advance by Hyatt and its customers.”) (citBgmple Contract, dated Feb. 17, 2016, annexed as
Ex. A, ECF No. 101-4).

Defendants point to applicaliiederal and state guidancelicating that service charges
may be used to satisfy minimuwage obligations. Defs.” Memat 4 (“The service charge is not
optional for customers; rather,jstmandatory. The service chaigehen included in the hotel’s

gross receipts. The distributitrom service charges therefaee not tips, so they may be



counted toward minimum wage.”) (citing 29 C.F.R. § 531.55(b) amNCDEF T OF LABOR,
Gratuities in the Restaurant Industiyttps://www.ctdol.state.ct.us/wgwkstnd/wage-
hour/restaurant.htm).

Defendants therefore arguatithey have paid Plaiffis “through a combination of
hourly wages (currently $5.35 pleour) and distributions frotihe mandatory service charges
from banquet events at which they are empioge banquet servers.” Defs.” SMF { 4. This
results, they contend, in a “regulrate of pay for each Plaintiff in every workweek in excess of
$7.25 per hour through December 9, 201d.Y 5. They therefore contetitht they are not only
in full compliance with their obligations to paninimum wage, but almost always exceedtit.

1 4. Thus, Defendants argue that “[b]ecause titksputed evidence shows that Plaintiffs were
paid at least minimum wage atitht the banquet service chargesyteeek are not wages that are
due to them,” they are entitled to summary judghun Plaintiffs’ FLSA claims. Defs.” Mem. at
1-2. They further contend that Plaintiffs hanaclaim under Connecticut law “because they
cannot show that Hyatt failed to pay thera thiages that it agreed to pay them under the
applicable agreement or pointaay source giving rise to theirtgdtement to the portion of the
service charges that were retainedHywatt or paid to banquet captainkd” at 2.

B. Procedural History

On February 5, 2016, Edgar Benavidez, Kdrzi, Marvin Castaneda, Ivan Peralta-
Cabrera, Luis Victoria, Patrick Desrosiers,cRoRibeiro, and Douglaslolina (collectively, the
“originally-named Plaintiffs”) sad Defendants for failure to ya minimum wage in violation
of the Fair Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”), 29 U.S.C. 8§ 2D%eq.and for diversion of portions
of their tips and gratuities in violatiocof Connecticut Wage Payment Law § 31-Hee

Complaint, dated Feb. 5, 2016 (“Compl.”), ECF No. 1, 1 58-68.
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On March 14, 2016, Defendants answered, isgahree affirmative defenses: (1) that
they acted in good faith and had reasonable grounds for believing that they were in good faith
compliance with the FLSA and Connecticut Wé&gyment Law; (2) thalaintiffs’ claims and
those of potential collective members were bamgdpplicable statutesnd (3) that Plaintiffs’
claims and those of potential collective memlyegse barred, in whole an part, by statutory
exclusions, exceptions, setoffs, or creditsamtie FLSA. Answer, dated Mar. 14, 2016, ECF
No. 21, at 16. Defendants also reserved the t@hssert alternative affirmative defendds.

On May 5, 2016, the Court entered a schedubrder providing that discovery be
completed by December 2, 20B&heduling Order, dated May 5, 2016, ECF No. 33.

On September 19, 2016, the originally-named Plaintiffs moved to amend the Complaint
to join fourteen additional party Plaintiffsiliam Acapana, Rodolfo Oyaride, Fernando Fajardo,
Jaime Diaz, Alberto Gonzales, Klever OrdanAmir Soto, Marcelo Villacis, Angel
Campoverde, James Lopez, lvan P. Aligria Jarillo, Fredi Stm, and Nilo HuyhuaSee
Motion to Amend, dated Sept. 19, 2016, ECF Blg.Notices, dated Sept. 19, 2016, ECF Nos.
38-51; Am. Compl. at 1.

On November 23, 2016, the Court amendeddiscovery schedule, extending discovery
deadlines by several months. Amended 8uoheg Order, dated Nov. 23, 2016, ECF No. 57.

On December 2, 2016, the Court granted the unopposed motion to amend. Order, dated
Dec. 2, 2016, ECF No. 61.

On December 16, 2016, Defendants filecharended answer, adding two additional
affirmative defenses: (1) thatd#htiffs and potential class adllective members were exempt

from the overtime requirements of the FLSA &@whnecticut law as employees of a retail or
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service establishment who are paia commission basis; and (2atiPlaintiffs failed to state a
claim for relief against Defendants. Am. Ans.

In January 2017, Plaintiffs moved tonepel Defendants to: (1) produce documents
revealing all revenue realizéy the Hyatt Regency Greenwich fevery banquet/event held in
the first quarter of 2014, 2015, and 2016; &)doroduce all documents showing how
Defendants calculated the servicauge and the portion distributéal service personnel at each
event. Motion to Compel, dated Feb. 3, 2017, ECF No. 70.

On March 20, 2017, the Courtagited in part and denied in part Plaintiffs’ motion.
Ruling on Motion to Compel, dated Mar. 20,120 ECF No. 77. The Court ordered Defendants
to “produce documents demonstrating the catmnaof the weekly seige charge amount for
the three weeks for which they have provideddeet Service Charge distribution charts within
thirty days of the date of this Ordetd. at 8. To further ensure that the documents produced
were representative, Defendantsre also ordered to “produce documents relating to the same
week in 2013, 2014, and 2015d.

On March 28, 2017, Plaintiffs moved tauafy the Court’s March 20, 2017 discovery
ruling. Motion for Clarificationfiled March 28, 2017, ECF No. 78.

On April 14, 2017, the Court granted the roatiordering that Defendants “must produce
documents relating to the same week2013, 2014, and 2015. Ruling on Pls.” Motion to
Clarify the Court’s Discoverprder, dated Apr. 14, 2017, ECF No. 79, at 1. The Court further
clarified that the documents racgd to be produced were “@bcuments that (a) reveal the
revenue realized by the Hotekfeach and every banquet oeat held within the banquet
department during these weeks, and, (b) show the 23% service charge, and 16.56% amount

distributed to service personnel, was calculaiedgainst the revenuealized during these
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weeks, including but not limited to all custonoentracts, final customer invoices, EO Reports,
Banquet Service Charge Distriimn charts, and ledgers, sprehdets, and other accounting
records reflecting or summarizing such revemsaeyice charges, angbtgratuity distribution
figures.”1d. at 2. Specifically, the Court held tH&efendants must produce weekly Banquet
Service Charge Distribution charts for the thregresentative weeksoalg with the documents
that the Hotel used to determine the serviaa@h,” and that these charts “must contain the
service charge amount for each and every day for these wakks.”

On June 29, 2017, the Court again exterttedliscovery deadleto August 31, 2017.
Scheduling Order, dated June 29, 2017, ECF No. 87.

On September 22, 2017, Plaintiffs moveddaliscovery conference, arguing that
Defendants had not produced a single ledgaccoounting document itemizing the amount of
revenue realized at each and every banquetdueidg the subject weeks. Motion for Discovery
Conference, dated Sept. 22, 2017, ECF No. 88.

On October 10, 2017, the Court ordered Ddénts to produce “Event Actualization
System” records for the weeks responsivitheoCourt’s April Order by November 10, 2017.
Order, dated Oct. 10, 2017, ECF No. 95. The Cosd gianted Plaintiffs’ motion to extend time
to respond to Defendants’ requests for admissind outstanding discovery requests by an
additional thirty daysld.

On March 7, 2018, Defendants moved famseary judgment against Plaintiffs. Mot.
Summ. J.

On April 25, 2018, Plaintiffs opposed the moti&eePls.” Opp.; Pls.” SMF.

On May 17, 2018, Defendants replied to Plaintiffs’ opposition. Reply, dated May 17,

2018, ECF No. 109.
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On December 12, 2018, the Court heaa argument on the motion for summary
judgment and reserved decision. Mintietry, dated Dec. 12, 2018, ECF No. 111.
. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A court will grant a motion for summary judgmt if the record shows no genuine issue
as to any material fact, and the movargnsitled to judgment as a matter of lawDFR. Civ. P.
56(a). The moving party bears the initial burdeesthblishing the absence of a genuine dispute
of material factCelotex Corp. v. Cartretd77 U.S. 317, 323 (1986). The non-moving party may
defeat the motion by producing sufficient specificts to establish that there is a genuine issue
of material fact for trialAnderson v. Liberty Lobby, In&77 U.S. 242, 249 (1986). “[T]he mere
existence osomealleged factual dispute between the parties will not defeat an otherwise
properly supported motion for summary judgmehe requirement is that there begenuine
issue ofmaterialfact.” Id. at 247-48.

“[T]he substantive law will identify which facts are materiatl’ at 248. “Only disputes
over facts that might affect the outcomettué suit under the goveng law will properly
preclude the entry of summary judgmendl’; see Graham v. Hendersd® F.3d 75, 79 (2d Cir.
1996) (“[M]ateriality runs to whéter the dispute matters, i.e., wiext it concerns facts that can
affect the outcome under the appble substantive law.”) (citingnderson477 U.S. at 248).

“The inquiry performed is thireshold inquiry of determing whether there is the need
for a trial—whether, in other words, there arg/ genuine factual issudsat properly can be
resolved only by a finder of fact because thegy reasonably be resolved in favor of either
party.” Id. at 250. When a motion for summary judgrhies supported by documentary evidence
and sworn affidavits and “demonstrates the ats@f a genuine issue of material fact,” the

nonmoving party must do more than vaguely agberexistence of somenspecified disputed
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material facts or “rely on conclusoajlegations or unsubstantiated speculati®obinson v.
Concentra Health Servs., In@81 F.3d 42, 44 (2d Cir. 201&jitation omitted). The party
opposing the motion for summary judgment “neeme forward with specific evidence
demonstrating the existence of angme dispute of material factd. “If the evidence is merely
colorable, or is not significantly protdige, summary judgment may be grantedlitiderson477
U.S. at 25(citing Dombrowski v. Eastlan®87 U.S. 82, 87 (1967kirst Nat'| Bank of Ariz. v.
Cities Serv. C9.391 U.S. 253, 290 (1968)).

A court must view any inferences drawn freime facts in the light most favorable to the
party opposing the summary judgment motibofort v. City of N.Y,.874 F.3d 338, 343 (2d Cir.
2017). A court will not draw an farence of a genuine dispute of material fact from conclusory
allegations or denial&rown v. Eli Lilly & Co, 654 F.3d 347, 358 (2d Cir. 2011), and will grant
summary judgment only “if, undéine governing law, there can bat one reasonable conclusion
as to the verdict,Anderson477 U.S. at 250.

lll.  DISCUSSION
A. Plaintiffs’ FLSA Claims

Defendants argue that Plaintiffs’ FLSA claifafl as a matter of law because when base
hourly wages and distributions from the servicargle pool are combined, all Plaintiffs earned
an effective wage above thederal hourly minimum wagef $7.25 for all hours worke&ee
Defs.” Mem. at 3 (“Plaintiffs were paid drourly wage per the collective bargaining agreement
of at least $5.35 per hour, and each of theeaith of the relevant weeks received service
charges that, when combinedth their hourly-based pay, exceeded the minimum wage of $7.25

per hour.”).
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Plaintiffs contend that samary judgment must be denied because there are material
issues of fact in dispute: spcally, whether the sefge charge pool was, in fact, a tip pool and,
if so, whether its inclusion of the banquet capavas improper under the FLSA's tip credit and
tip pooling provisions.

Because Plaintiffs have only pleadedairal for unpaid minimum wages, and because
Plaintiffs have failed to shoany genuine dispute as to whether they earned more than the
federal minimum wage for all hours workeddbgh base hourly wages and service charges
alone, the Court agree@sth Defendants.

1. Tips vs. Service Charges Under the FLSA

The FLSA does not explicitly define “tipgt “service charges.” Department of Labor
regulations have, accordingly, &l in this statutory gap.

A tip is defined as “a sum presented by a custams a gift or graity in recognition of
some service performed for him.” 29 C.F.R. § 53%.92is to be distinguished from payment of
a charge, if any, made for the servidel.”*Whether a tip is to be given, and its amount, are
matters determined solely by the customer, Wa®the right to determine who shall be the

recipient of the gratuity®Id.

4 In the March 2018 tip credit amendments, Congress abrogated this regulationSe@aub. L. 115-141, 132

Stat. 348, div. S, tit. XIl, § 1201(c) (2018) (“Effect Begulations. The portions of the final rule promulgated by the
Department of Labor entitled ‘Updating Regulations Issuader the Fair Labor Standards Act’ (76 Fed. Reg.

18832 (April 5, 2011)) that revised $iens 531.52, 531.54, and 531.59 of title 29, Code of Federal Regulations (76
Fed. Reg. 18854-18856) and that are not addressed by section 3(m) of the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938 (29
U.S.C. 203(m)) (as such section was in effect on Ap203.1), shall have no further force or effect until any future
action taken by the Administrator of the Wage and Hour Division of the Department of Labor. abTdgeation

did not, however, affect the definition of “tip” set foiththe first sentence of this regulation, which has been
unchanged since first adopt&ke?9 C.F.R. § 531.52 (effective to May 4, 20149e als&/6 Fed. Reg. 18832

(April 5, 2011) (revising § 531.52 from the “second sentence to the end of tigeapdry.

5 While this sentence was slightly revised by the 2011 firla| this change in language does not appear to have had
any substantive effeaCompare29 C.F.R. § 531.52 (effective to May 4, 2011) (“Whether a tip is to be given, and
its amount, are matters determined solely by the customer, and generally he has the right to detershiak tveh

the recipient of his gratuity.”with 29 29 C.F.R. 8§ 531.52 (effective May 5, 2011) (Whether a tip is to be given, and
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A “compulsory charge for service, suchl&spercent of the amount of the bill, imposed
on a customer by an employer’s establishmiemiot a tip and, evehdistributed by the
employer to its employees, cannot be countedl s received in applying the provisions
of section 3(m) and 3(t).” 29 C.F.R. § 531.55(&imilarly, where negotiations between a hotel
and a customer for banquet facilities includenants for distribution temployees of the hotel,
the amounts so distributed are notinted as tips receivedd. “[S]ervice charges and other
similar sums which become part of the employgrtsss receipts are nop$ for purposes of the
Act.” 29 C.F.R. 8§ 531.55(b}ee Labriola v. Clinton Entm’t Mgmt., LL.Glo. 15 C 4123, 2017
WL 1150989, at *11 (N.D. Ill. Mar. 28, 2017) (“Coudgenerally agree that service charges must
be included in an employer’'s g®receipts.”) (collecting casesge also Barenboim v.
Starbucks Corp.698 F.3d 104, 112 (2d Cir. 2012) (explaining that while service charges are
considered gratuity under New York law and may not be retained by employers, “Tips under the
FLSA, by contrast, do not include such oblaygtservice charges.”) (citing 29 C.F.R. 8
531.55(a)). “Where such sums are distributedh@yemployer to its employees, however, they
may be used in their entirety to satisfy thenetary requirements of the Act.” 29 C.F.R. §
531.55(b);see Lusk v. Serve U Brands, |2018 WL 826857, at *AN.D.N.Y. Feb. 12, 2018)
(“Service charges that are distributed by an eyl to its employees “may be used in their
entirety to satisfy the monetary requiremearitthe [FLSA].”) (quoting 29 C.F.R. 8 531.55(b));
Hart v. Rick’s Cabaret Int’l, In¢.967 F. Supp. 2d 901, 929 (S.D.N.Y. 2013) (“[T]hese
regulations require that sece charges be distributéy the employein order to count toward

wages.”) (citing 29 C.F.R. § 531.55(b)) (emphasis in original).

its amount, are matters determined solely by the customer, who has the right to deternshalMd®the recipient
of the gratuity.”).
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Thus, where a service charge is mandatand is included in the employer’s gross
receipts, it is properly deemed a service chaagd,not a tip, for purposes of the FLSA. Where,
however, a customer retains digme over its payment, it is a tigee Soliman v. SOBE Miami,
LLC, 312 F. Supp. 3d 1344, 1351 (S.D. Fla. May 14, 2018payment of a service charge is

within the customer’s discretion . . . it is a ‘griguor ‘tip.””) (citations omitted). Finally, where
a service charge has been used and the poédige service chargae distributed to
employees, the proceeds distributed to emplogessounted as wages towards satisfying the
employer’s minimum wage obligatiorSee, e.g., Labriol&2017 WL 1150989, at *11 (“Service
charges that are distributed from employersrtployees are counted against an employer’'s
minimum wage obligations, while tips are nemployers must still pay tipped employee a
wage.”) (citing 29 C.F.R. 88 531.50, 531.58I;Feeley v. Jackson St. Entm’t, LL&25 F.3d
235, 246 (4th Cir. 2016) (where service chargekided in establishment’s gross receipts and
distributed by employer to employees, they may be counted “as an offset to an employer’s
minimum wage liability.”).
2. Tip Credits and Tip Pools under the FLSA
Under the FLSA, an employer of a “tippechployee™—i.e., an employee engaged in an

occupation in which he or she customarily argutarly receives more than $30 a month in tips,

29 U.S.C. § 203(t)—may utilize a uniqueypzent structure to compensate employees.

6 As detailed below, Congress amended the FLSA's tip credit provisions effective March 23[120balk of the

period covered by Plaintiffs’ Amended Complaint was sulifette version of the statute in effect from December

16, 2014 to March 22, 2018. Where the substantive provisions referred to remain the same, the Court generally cites
the statute as currently enacted unless the amendment Heedrassa renumbering or restyling of the provision, in

which case the Court will cite both versions. Where tlgipions have substantively changed, the Court will

specify which version of the statute is being cited.

7 SeeBenjamin MeyerMrs. Orville Isn’t Trying to Steal Tips: An FLSA Stp8# U.CHI. L. REv. 1971, 1973-77
(2017)(summarizing how this structure came to be codified in the FLSA).
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Employers may pay a tipped employee usingratination of: (1) a base hourly wage (also
known as a “cash wage” or a “direct wage”), which may be as low as $ariB(2) an
additional amount on account of the tips receibgdhe employee (commonly known as a “tip
credit®) that is equal to the difference betweem iase hourly wage and the statutory minimum
wage. 29 U.S.C. § 203(m)(2) (effective Mar, 2818); 29 U.S.C. § 203(m) (effective Dec. 16,
2014 to Mar. 22, 2018). The combination of bHase hourly wage and the amount earned on
account of tips must equal ladst the statutory federal mmmiam wage, which has remained
$7.25 per hour since July 25)09. 29 U.S.C. 206(a)(1)(Gee also Trejo v. Ryman Hospitality
Props, 795 F.3d 442, 447 (4th Cir. 2015) (“An emplogan thus pay tipped employees (1) a
cash wage of $2.13 plus (2) an additional amoutipgthat brings the totavage to the federal
minimum wage.”) (citation omitted).

“[1]f the employee does not in fact receivdfaient tips to earn aeast $7.25 per hour,
the employer must make up the differendzéez v. RamaiaNo. 14-cv-5623 (PAE), 2015 WL
1637871, at *4 n.5 (S.D.N.Y. Apr. 9, 2015) (cgig9 U.S.C. § 203(m)(2) (effective Dec. 16,
2014 to Mar. 22, 2018))ee also Marlow v. New Food Guy, 861 F.3d 1157, 1160 (10th Cir.
2017) (“This provision gives employers of fied employees’—like hotels and restaurants—the

option of paying a reduced hourly wage of $2.180sg as their workers receive enough tips to

8 Specifically, the statute provides thag thase hourly wage “shall be not less than the cash wage required to be paid
such an employee on August 20, 1996.” 29 U.S.C. 203(m)(2)(A)(i) (effective Mar. 23, 2018); 2920K18)(1)
(effective Dec. 16, 2014 to Mar. 22, 2018). That amount in 1996, and today, remaB$S$2 Chung v. New Silver
Palace Rest.246 F. Supp. 2d 220, 228 (S.D.N.Y. 2002) (“As of August 20, 1996, the minimum wagé.@aafk

hour, and the tip credit could be as much as one-half, or $2.13 an hour. When, effectiveftar Segtember 1,

1997, the minimum wage rose to $5.15 an hour, the minimum cash wage for tipped employeesnds52.13

retained, and the maximum tip credit rose to $3.02 an hour.”) (citations omitted).

9 Oreg. Rest. & Lodging Ass’n v. Per@6 F.3d 1080, 1082 (9th Cir. 2016) (“This practice is known as taking a
‘tip credit.”); see also Malivuk v. Ameripark, LI.694 F. App’x 705, 706—07 (11th Cir. 2017) (“An employer who
utilizes an employee’s hourtips to reach the minimum hourly wageedihe employee is said to take a ‘tip
credit.”)
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bring them to the $7.25 minimum. If therearot enough tips, the employer must pay the
difference; if there are more thanoeigh, the excess tips go to employees.”).

To take the tip credit toward its mmum wage obligation, the employer must (1)
provide a tipped employee with notice of the ps@mns of 29 U.S.C. § 203(m), and (2) allow
that employee to retain all tips they recei@ee29 U.S.C. § 203(m)(2)(A) (effective Dec. 14,
2014 to Mar. 22, 2018) (“The preceding 2 sentesbedl not apply with respect to any tipped
employee unless such employee has been infobhydide employer of the provisions of this
subsection, and all tips receiveddich employee have been retained by the employee . . . .");
29 U.S.C. § 203(m) (effective Dec. 14, 2014 to Mar. 22, 2018) (same).

These two requirements are strictly constrdbdyt is, an employer may not take a tip
credit toward its minimum wage obligation unless it complies strictly with &tatiatory
requirements. 29 U.S.C. § 203(m)(2)(A) (effeetMar. 23, 2018); 29 U.S.C. § 203(m) (effective
Dec. 14, 2014 to Mar. 22, 2018ee Chung v. New Silver Palace Rext6 F. Supp. 2d 220,

230 (S.D.N.Y. 2002) (“Congress, mmafting the tip credit provisioaf section 3(m) of the FLSA
did not create a middle ground allowing an emgldyoth to take the tip credit and share
employees’ tips. Congress gave employers oktippmployees a simpbdoice: either allow
employees to keep all the tipsththey receive, or forgo the tip credit and pay them the full
hourly minimum wage.”).

The one caveat to the secarduirement (allowing employeé&s retain all tips they
receive) occurs when employers elect to usepitipls.” A tip pool allows an employer to divide
tips for a given shift among all tipped employdésreby ensuring that all tipped employees earn

enough in tip credit to satisfy the minimum wage and mitigating any potential for unfairness that

20



may result from, for example, one tipped eoygle’s bad luck in seing a lower-tipping
customer®

The FLSA makes clear that when pipols that are limited to employees who
“customarily and regularly receive tips” areliatd, the employer is not required to allow an
individual employee to keepldips he or she wividually received. 29 U.S.C. § 203(m)(2)(A)
(effective Mar. 23, 2018) (“The preceding 2 sentersted| not apply with respect to any tipped
employee unless such employee has been infobhydide employer of the provisions of this
subsection, and all tips received by such empltye®e been retained by the employee, except
that this subsection shall not be construeprtibit the pooling ofips among employees who
customarily and regularly receive tif)s29 U.S.C. § 203(m) (effective Dec. 16, 2014 to Mar.
22, 2018) (same). In other words, the employer regyire a tipped employéde share his or her
individual tips—but only with otherpped employees in a valid tip pool.

Thus, if an employer’s tip pool includasn-tipped employees, the employer loses its
entitlement to take a tip credee Shahriar v. Smith & Wollensky Rest. Grp., B&9 F.3d 234,
240 (2d Cir. 2011) (“[A]Jn employer loses its entitlemt to the tip credit where it requires tipped
employees to share tips with (1) employees ddbomot provide direct @iomer service or (2)
managers.”) (citations omitted).

3. Minimum Wage

Until March 23, 2018, there was “no federal smof action for unlawful retention of
tips.” Azeez2015 WL 1637871, at *6. The FLSA onlygmided “a ‘right of action’ against
‘[a]ny employer who violates the provisionssaction 206, which establishes minimum wage

obligations, ‘or section 207yvhich governs maximum hours and overtime compensation.”

10 see, e.gMeyer,supranote 7, at 1972 (explaining that serversmfihare tips with one another “to create a team
culture in the restaurant, or to minizaithe risks associated with the variaimcparty sizes and patron generosity.”).
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(quoting 29 U.S.C. § 216(b)3epe Malivuk694 F. App’x at 708 (“Rlintiff's tip-withholding

claim implicates neither § 206 (minimum wag®y 8 207 (overtime), and thus Plaintiff cannot
assert a private cause of action @ng 216(b).”) (citations omittedyVidjaja v. Kang Yue USA
Corp, No. 09-cv-2089 (RRM)(CLP), 2011 WL 4460642*3mn.6 (E.D.N.Y. 2011) (“Plaintiffs
concede, however, that Ng does not have arddiaim because he was paid at least minimum
wage and federal law only proscribes the rébendf tips if the employee is paid less than
minimum wage.”);Cumbie v. Woody Woo, In&96 F.3d 577, 582-83 (9th Cir. 2010) (“Cumbie
received a wage that was far greater than the federally prescribed minimum, plus a substantial
portion of her tips . . . . nothirig the text of the FLSA purpatto restrict employee tip-pooling
arrangements when no tip credit is taken . . sé€g alsdNakahata v. N.Y.—Presbyterian
Healthcare Sys.723 F.3d 192, 201 (2d Cir. 2013) (“[T] he FLSA is unavailing where wages do
not fall below the statutory minimum and hodwsnot rise above the overtime threshold.”)
(citation omitted).

Instead, these tip credima@tip pooling provisions simplgstablished how employers of
tipped employees could meet their minimum wagkgations. If an employer’s tip withholding
practices resulted in minimum @@ or overtime violations, tremployee could sue to enforce
the tip credit and tip pooling provisions to enstimey received the statutorily-required minimum
wage and overtimeésee Trejp795 F.3d at 448 (“Given that cent, 8 203(m) does not state
freestandingequirementgertaining to all tipped employedsut rather creates rights and
obligations for employers attempting to use @igsa credit against the minimum wage . . . . We
thus find that the statutorygeirements that an employer inform an employee of § 203(m) and
permit the employee to retain all his tips unlessetihgloyee is in a tip pooatith other regularly

tipped employees does not apply to employeks the Plaintiffs, who are seeking only the
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recovery of the tips unrelated to a minimum wagevertime claim.”) (citations and internal
guotation marks omitted).

If, however, that employer paid hourly wagbat, before tips, were higher than the
federal minimum wage, there was no fiedéaw cause of action under the FLS3ee Trinidad
v. Pret a Manger (USA) Ltd962 F. Supp. 2d 545, 561-62 (S.D.N.Y. 2013) (“By its terms,
Section 203(m) imposes conditions tip-pooling arrangemenss a means of vindicating the
FLSA’s minimum wage requirement. It is noapkibly read to impose a nationwide freestanding
code of conduct regarding the handling ofrtipney where the statute’s minimum-wage
command is otherwise met.”).

4. 2018 Tip Credit Amendments

As part of an omnibus spending bill, Congress adopted several amendments to the FLSA
tip credit provisionsSeePub. L. 115-141, 132 Stat. 348, div. S, tit. XlII, § 1201 (2018). The
FLSA now provides that “[a]employer may not keep tips received by its employees for any
purposes, including allowing managers or supersiso keep any portion of employees’ tips,
regardless of whether or not the employer takap credit.” 29 U.S.C. § 203(m)(2)(B) (effective
Mar. 23, 2018).

Congress also has created what appedrs tonew, separate cause of action for the
recovery of unpaid, or impropgnvithheld, tips—regardless @fhether the employer takes a tip
credit.See29 U.S.C. § 216(b) (effective Mar. 23)18) (“Any employer who violates section
203(m)(2)(B) of this title shall be liable to teenployee or employees affted in the amount of
the sum of any tip credit taken by the emplogred all such tips unlawfully kept by the
employer, and in an additional equal amountcqsdated damages. An action to recover the

liability prescribed in the preceding sentesiogay be maintained against any employer
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(including a public agency) in any Federal or &taiurt of competent jisdiction by any one or
more employees for and in behalf of himself or themselves and other employees similarly
situated.”).

5. Plaintiffs’ Claims

At oral argument, Plaintiff;sisted that their claims wewéable under the prior version
of the statute. The Court therefore confinesitalysis to Plaintiffstlaims for minimum wages
under the statute as enacted until March 22, 2018.

Plaintiffs argue that any bakeurly wage payment made to tipped workers that is, on its
face, below minimum wage is a cash wageg paid in reliance on the tip cre@eePls.” SMF
at 5 1 1 (“Plaintiffs’ hourly rate of pay is ledgan the minimum wage, and the remainder of the
required minimum wage is achieved through an emplogeredit.”). In oher words: if it looks
like a tip credit, it must be a tip credit.

Plaintiffs have admitted, however, that thewe been subject to the terms of the CBA
since September 1, 2014. Defs.” SMF { 6; Pls.FSMb6. The CBA establishes a service charge
pool and sets forth a general procedure by whiettitel agrees to contract for the payment of
mandatory service charges by banquet custorBesssupr& I.A.2. It also states that any
voluntary tips given by banquet customers, atarve beyond its serse charges, will be

reserved in their entirety for diddtition to banquet seers and captaingd.
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Plaintiffs also have admitted that thefgice charge is normally 23% of the food,
beverage, and room rental charg€sP1s.” SMF { 2. Nor do they dispute that these mandatory
service charges are included in the hoteltssgireceipts. Defs.” SMF { 2; Pls.” SMF 2.

As a result, there is no factual dispute awhether the “pool” contains service charges.
As discussed above, service charges, may beingidir entirety to esure compliance with the
FLSA’s minimum wage obligation§&ee Wai Man Tom v. Hospitality Ventures |LN®. 5:17-
cv-98-FL, 2018 WL 6620886, at *8 (B.N.C. Dec. 18, 2018) (service charges “may be used in
their entirety to satisfy the monetary requirements of the FLISAsk 2018 WL 826857, at *2
(“Service charges that are distributed by an eyl to its employees “may be used in their
entirety to satisfy the monetary requiremearitthe [FLSA].”) (quoting 29 C.F.R. 8 531.55(b));
McFeeley 825 F.3d at 246 (where sargicharges included in eslisbhment’s gross receipts and
distributed by employer to employees, they may be counted “as an offset to an employer’s
minimum wage liability.”).If, as Defendants argue, those ss#\wcharges, combined with the

base hourly wages, bring Plaffg’ effective hourly wages above the federal minimum wage,

I Three sample catering contracts in the record demonstrate how this language, incorporated into the hotel’'s
banquet contracts, israandatory contract terfompareCatering Contract, dated Mar. 21, 2014, annexed as C to
Centrone Decl., ECF No. 101-6 (“A 23% Service Charge and applicable taxes shall be addeddaati
beverage.”)with Catering Contract, dated Mar. 23, 2015, annexed as Ex. B to Centrone Decl., ECF N¢'/AL01-5
23% Service Charge and applicable taxes shall be added to all food, beverage and meeting rooramental.”),
Catering Contract, dated Feb. 17, 2016, annexed as Ex. A to Centrone Decl., ECF No. 101-4 (“A Twenty-three
percent (23%) service charge and applicable taxes shafldesl to all food and beverage and room rental.”).

2While Plaintiffs state they “object the remainder” of 2 of Defendang&tatement of Material Facts, they only
describe their objection as being to whether different contracts may provide for different service charge amounts
than the standard 23%. Pls.” SMF 1 2. They have not ebjéctthe claim that the séte charges are included in

the hotel’s gross receipts, nor have tpeyvided any evidence creating a genugsele of material fact to dispute

this point. Plaintiffs try to qualify their responses oe Hasis of a failure of Defendants to provide necessary
information in discovery, but, as discussed below, this argument fails.
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then Defendants have met their federal mininwage obligations and Plaintiffs do not have a
viable minimum wage claim under the FL$A.

At this stage, Plaintiffs must show thag¢th is a genuine dispute of material fact, but
have failed to show that their hourly wagesl avages earned through mandatory service charges
do not satisfy Defendants’ minimum wage obligai. Indeed, Plaintiffs have been unable to
identify a single employee or pay period in which Defendants were unable to meet their
minimum wage obligations through baseurly wages and service chargés.

At oral argument, Plaintiffslaimed, that they were unaltio do so because Defendants
failed to produce critical information that shothlave been provided in discovery. To the extent
that Plaintiffs are suggesting thahder Rule 56(d) of the FedeRliles of Civil Pocedure, this
motion should not be decided now, the Court disag&es-eD. R. Civ. P.56(d) (“If a
nonmovant shows by affidavit declaration that, for specifiagasons, it cannot present facts
essential to justify its oppositiothe court may: (1) defer considering the motion or deny it; (2)
allow time to obtain affidavits or declaratiooisto take discoverygr (3) issue any other

appropriate order.”).

B This is unlike the situation in a very similar case imirg Hyatt banquet servenshere the plaintiff received a
base hourly rate of $11.24 to $11.57 throughout her employment, plus service cBeegssi v. Hyatt Hotels

Corp., No. 15-cv-5371, 2017 WL 5128173, at *3 (E.D.N.Y. Nov. 6, 2017) (“Hyatt paid Livi for her work as a
Banquet Server through a combination of hourly wagekdistributions from the service charges that Hyatt
collected on Banquet Events. From September 29, 2012 ttath of her separation, Livi's hourly rate ranged from
$11.24 to $11.57 per hour. Throughout the coursewdslemployment, service charge distributions constituted
more than 50% of Livi's total compensation.”) (citations omittadf)d, 751 F. App’x 208 (2018).

Had Defendants paid a base hourly wage here that was at least $7.25, this would be a very stralgtefmwa
See, e.g., Treja?95 F.3d at 446 (“Here, the Plaffs concede that they are padull minimum wage absent tips . .
Here, the Plaintiffs concede that theg gaid a full minimum wage absent tip&ypody Wop596 F.3d at 582—83
(“Cumbie received a wage that was far greater than thealdprescribed minimum, plus a substantial portion of
her tips. Naturally, she would prefer to recealleof her tips, but the FLSA does not create such an entitlement
where no tip credit is taken . ...").

14 Notably, during the course ofatiovery, Defendants identified two empeg who, on one occasion each, failed
to receive a minimum wage for all heurvorked, and quickly paid them thdfdience between what they were paid
and what they were owed at the Connecticut minimum wage rate, plus an equal amount in liqaidateEsSee
Centrone Decl. 1 8. At oral argument, Defendants confirmed that those individuals indeed had been paid.
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“[A] party resisting summary judgment oretround that it needs discovery in order to
defeat the motion must submit an affidavit simay(1) what facts are sought [to resist the
motion] and how they are to be obtained, (2) hloose facts are reasonably expected to create a
genuine issue of materidct, (3) what effort affiant has made to obtain them, and (4) why the
affiant was unsuccessful in those effortditler v. Wolpoff & Abramson, L.L.P321 F.3d 292,
303 (2d Cir. 2003) (citation andtarnal quotation marks omitted).

Plaintiffs do not directlynvoke Rule 56(d) in their memorandum opposing summary
judgmentseePls.” Opp., but use its language at selvpoints in their Statement of Material
Facts and in a declaratiorofn one of their attorneySee, e.gPIs.” SMF § 2 (“Defendants
refused to produce contracts during the relevanbge . . . as such, Plaintiffs cannot present
facts essential to justify itgpposition.”); Declaration of Johh Malley, Esq., dated Apr. 25,
2018 (“Malley Decl.”), annexed to Pls.” SMECF No. 106-12, § 2 (“Plaintiff cannot present
facts essential to justify itgpposition.”). This declaration ppars to satisfy Rule 56(d)’s
procedural requirement that the nonmuvile an affidait or declarationSee FTC v. Moses
913 F.3d 297, 306 (2d Cir. 2019) (finding nonmovanives arguments as to insufficiency of
discovery under Rule 56(d) by failing to filan affidavit explaining why such discovery is
necessary.”).

Plaintiffs first argue thabefendants refused to producklkanquet service contracts for
the period beginning three years before thedith the Complaint through the present. As a
result, they cannot present factd@svhether the contcts actually provided for slight variations
from the standard 23% service charge. P#tail to explain, however, how they reasonably
expect such facts would create a genuine desplitnaterial fact, given that Defendants have

already admitted that there ayecasionally slight variations e negotiated service charge.
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These minor, negotiated-for variations to maadaservice chargesould not transform the
service charges into tipSee29 C.F.R. § 531.55(a) (“Similarly, where negotiations between a
hotel and a customer for banqtetilities include amoustfor distribution to employees of the
hotel, the amounts so distributed ao# counted as tips received.”).

Plaintiffs further argue that Defendantsftrsed to produce critical documents that are
needed to determine if Defendants’ caltiolas of the purported service charges only are
accurate, most importantly, the Banquet Ser@harge Distribution charts that this Court
identified as essential to undensding the accuracy of Defendants’ service charge calculations.”
Malley Decl. 1 6. Plaintiffs state that the “acacy of the service charges cannot be measured,
unless the banquet reverfigures are identified.td. On March 20, 2017, however, the Court
ordered Defendants to produce documents relédigrepresentative weelkcross three years,
2013, 2014, and 2015:

Defendants must produce documents demonstrating the calculation

of the weekly service charge amnt for the three weeks for which

they have provided Banquet SewiCharge distribution charts

within thirty days of the date of this Order. To further ensure that

the documents produced are representative, Defendants must

produce documents relating to the same week in 2013, 2014, and

2015. If further questions arise after Defendants produce these three

weeks’ worth of documents, Plaintiffs can renew their motion to

compel.
Ruling on Plaintiff's Motion to Compel, dated Mar. 20, 2017, ECF No. 77, at 8. Consistent with
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 26(b)(1), theu@ sought to “‘assess the circumstances of the
case and limit discovery accordingly to ensugd the scope and duration of discovery is
reasonably proportional to the valof the requested informatiaihe needs of the case, and the

parties’ resources.’ld. at 6 (quotingChen-Oster v. Goldman, Sachs & (203 F.R.D. 557, 562

(S.D.N.Y. 2013). The Cougxplicitly noted the buten of compliance with Plaintiffs’ request, as
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well as the fact that éhdocuments sought did not appearédily relevant to the determination
of whether the service charge was a tig."at 6—7. Nevertheless, the @bmade clear that “[i]f
further questions arise after Defendants poedihese three weeks’ worth of documents,
Plaintiffs can renew their motion to compdUd: at 8.

On April 14, 2017, in response to a motion by Riéfs seeking claritation as to the
precise scope of the March 20, 2017 ruling, the Court ordered Defendants to produce

all documents that (a) reveal the revenue realized by the Hotel for
each and every banquet or event hvelthin the banquet department
during these weeks, and, (b) show how the 23% service charge, and
16.56% amount distributed to sex® personnel, was calculated as
against the revenue realized during these weeks, including but not
limited to all customer contracts, final customer invoices, EO
Reports, Banquet Service Chargestbbution charts, and ledgers,
spreadsheets, and other @aating records reflecting or
summarizing such revenue, service charges, and tip/gratuity
distribution figures. Specifical] Defendants must produce weekly
Banquet Service Charge Distribution charts for the three
representative weeksoalg with the documents that the Hotel used

to determine the service charge. Each chart must contain the service
charge amount for each and every day for these weeks. Defendants
must also produce any and all doants showing how this charge
was calculated, including but not lited to the documents Plaintiffs
sought in their motion to compel. They must also produce any and
all documents that reflect revengalized at anpanquet/event that
occurred during the subject peds for which service charge
amounts are not reflected on the Banquet Service Charge
Distribution charts.

Ruling on Plaintiffs’ Motion to Clarify the Qurt’'s Discovery Order, dated Apr. 14, 2017, ECF
No. 79.

In other words, these rulings were dgsd to yield the very revenue documents
Plaintiffs now claim they need, but limiteddaepresentative sample proportional to the needs
of the case. The rulings also &xgjtly invited Plaintiffs to rene its motion to compel as needed,

after reviewing the Defendants’ production.
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On September 22, 2017, Plaintiffs moved for a discovery conference to address
outstanding issues related téastdocument production. Motionrf®@iscovery Conference, dated
Sept. 22, 2017, ECF No. 88. After that conferetioe Court ordered Defendants to “provide
Event Actualization System records for theeks responsive to the Court’s April Order” by
November 10, 2017. Ruling and Order on Disery, dated Oct. 10, 2017, ECF No. 95.

No further motions related to discovery wéked, nor were any defiencies in discovery
brought to the Court’s attention in the five montletween that ruling and order and the filing of
Defendants’ summary judgment motion.

In short, Plaintiffs had an opportunityeceive the “critical daements” they now claim
to need. While the Court limited discovery to presentative sample, if, after reviewing that
sample, Plaintiffs arguably needed more, theydragle time to return to the Court and seek it.
As the Second Circuit has noted: “A party whahbfails to use the time available and takes no
steps to seek more time until after a sumniasigment motion has been filed need not be
allowed more time for discovery absent a strong showing of nBedihgton Coat Factory
Warehouse Corp. v. Esprit De Corg69 F.2d 919, 927-28 (2d Cir. 1985). That is the case here.
As a result, to the extent Plaiig claim that this Court shouldot rule on Defendants’ motion or
delay ruling in order to permit Plaintiffglditional discovery under Rule 56(d), the Court
declines to defer considerationtbfs motion and re-open discovery.

In any event, Plaintiffs’ argument, thaetkervice chargecan and should be treated as
tips, is wrong as a matter of law, given that éhisrno genuine disputeahservice charges were
a mandatory term of the banquet contracts. It does not seem “reasondylythikiea review of
those four years of contract®uld reveal that the service cgas—which were required to be

imposed by the CBA— were actualloluntary tips completely dhe customers’ discretion.
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Plaintiffs therefore have not offered an addquexplanation for whgbtaining documentation of
revenue for all banquets held at the tiyRgegency Greenwich for the years 2013—-2018 will
create a material issue of fact.

To the extent that discovery about whethes gjven to Plaintiffs, in addition to revenue
from mandatory service charges, were necessagdore that the Plaintiffs received a minimum
wage, then the discovery already provided aé agePlaintiffs’ own information would have
been more than sufficient to make that clainaifRiffs should have copies of their own paystubs
and W-2 records, and many payroll records were evidently produced in disc®eeEx. A to
Declaration of Marvin Castaala, dated Apr. 25, 2018, annexed to Pls.” SMF, ECF No. 106-3.
Significantly, the CBA provides #t Defendants shall maintain comprehensive records and
“shall make available tong Banquet employee, upon request, a breakdown of their individual
itemized distribution of gratties, fees, and hours worked for the past week.” CBA § 30.1.
Moreover, a number of “Banquet Service Chdbggtribution” recordshave been produced
through discovery. These records all appearfteatthow service charges were distributed to
Plaintiffs. These could have been comparedth@r existing records—paystubs, W-2’s, and
individual itemized records for the Plaiifié—and submitted in response to Defendants’
summary judgment motion or provided to the Gdoafore its filing, insupport of an argument
for additional discovery.

In the end, Plaintiffs have not produced amdence to suggest thiie service charges
were actually tips—or that tips, rather than sexwibharges, were necessary in order for Plaintiffs
to make a minimum wage under the FLSA. @hantiff, Marvin Castaneda, submitted a
declaration in opposition to summary judgmesgeating that “because the pool referred to in

the CBA as the ‘service charge pool’ containamtdry tips made by customers, we continue to
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refer to it as what it is, dip pool.” Declaraton of Marvin Castaneda, dated Apr. 25, 2018,
annexed to Pls.” SMFEECF No. 106-2, { 8.

This is an unsupported legal conclusioraiftiffs have provided no support for the
notion that service charges pladged distribution ind alongside tips are converted into tips,
particularly when the CBA itseffrovides that such funds are note allocated in the same
manner. Moreover, whether employees or emplogeltequially choose to call a service charge
a tip is of no legal significanc&ee Mechmet v. Four Seasons Hotels, B2b F.2d 1173, 1177
(7th Cir. 1987) (“We attach no weight tcetfact that the collective bargaining agreement
between the Ritz-Carlton and its waiters describesviters’ income from the service charge as
a “gratuity” rather tharmas a “commission.”).

Absent any evidence to the contratyhe Court concludes theieno genuine dispute of
material fact as to whether Defendants wadyke to meet their minimum wage obligations
through a combination of base hourlygea and mandatory service charges.

Accordingly, because Plaintiffs have fail@dsupport their allegains that they were
paid less than minimum wage before volunt#pg were accounted for, the Court finds no
minimum wage claim here and thus, no FLSA claim as a matter oSkevITejp795 F.3d at
448 (“[1)t is clear that [FLSA’sJanguage — whatever its importeuld give rise to a cause of
action only if the employer is using tips to shtiits minimum wage requirements. The FLSA is

the ‘minimum wage/maximum hour law.™) (citation omitted).

Defendants therefore are entitled to sunynpadgment on Plaintis’ FLSA claims.

15 For example, in one recent caséjsdrict court denied summary judgment because the plaintiff presented an
affidavit and payroll records that “suggest that trenthly membership chargesdiar service charges that
Escalante relies upon for its position that it did notatimthe FLSA or Florida law were really discretionary
customer tips which Escalante used tpement the Plaintiff's compensatioVirgin v. Escalante—Black

Diamond Golf Club, LLCNo. 5:13-cv-359-Oc-10PRL, 2014 WL 12591472, at *3 (M.D. Fla. Aug. 4, 2014), Here,
by contrast, Plaintiffs have not shown a genuine issmeatérial fact as to whether the service charges are
mandatory, included in the hotel's gross receipts, and distributed by the employer ttilaint
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B. Plaintiffs’ Connecticut Law Claims

Having determined that Defendants are emtittesummary judgmemind dismissal of all
federal claims over which the Court had origijaisdiction, the Court may decline to exercise
supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ remaig state-law claims. 28 U.S.C. § 1367(c)(3);
Kolari v. N.Y.-Presbyterian Hosp455 F.3d 118, 122 (2d Cir. 2006) (“[A] district court ‘may
decline to exercise supplemenjtaisdiction’ if it ‘has dismissed all claims over which it has
original jurisdiction.”) (quding 28 U.S.C. § 1367(c)(3)).

“Once a district court’s discretion isggered under § 1367(c)(3), it balances the
traditional ‘values of judicial economy, convengenfairness, and comity’ in deciding whether
to exercise jurisdiction.Kolari, 455 F.3d at 12gquotingCarnegie-Mellon Univ. v. Cohjl484
U.S. 343, 350 (1988) and citiiar-Tass Russian News Agency v. Russian Kurier, 1d€ F.3d
442, 446-47 (2d Cir. 1998). “In weighing these facttirg,district court imided by the Supreme
Court’s additional guidance i@ohill that ‘in the usual case in which all federal-law claims are
eliminated before trial, the balance of fastor . will point toward declining to exercise
jurisdiction over the remaining state-law claimdd’ (quotingCohill, 484 U.S. at 350 n.7). As
the Second Circuit recently emphasized, howefwihen § 1367(c)(3) applies, the district
court must still meaningfully bance the supplemental jurisdimti factors” of judicial economy,
convenience, fairness, and comity before declining to exerciseesugpial jurisdictionCatzin
v. Thank You & Good Luck Cor@99 F.3d 77, 86 (2d Cir. 2018).

Here, Defendants’ arguments for summaiggment on Plaintiffs’ state law claims rest

heavily on interpretations of Connecticut lagecerning the payment of wages, specifically
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CONN. GEN. STAT. 8§ 31-71e and 31-72 But neither Defendants nor Plaintiffs have fully
addressed the impact of Contieat’s minimum wage laws, whitccontain tip credit provisions
that delegate significamtuthority over tipped wages to t@®nnecticut Department of Labor, on
Plaintiffs’ claims.SeeCoNN. GEN. STAT. § 31-60(b)Amaral Bros. v. Dep’t of LabpB25 Conn.
72, 84 (2017) (“ Following several additional @miments, the statute currently provides in
relevant part: “The [commissioner] shall adopt such regulationghat] shall recognize, as part
of the minimum fair wage, gratigs in an amount ... equal td fzer cent of the minimum fair
wage per hour for persons, other than bartenaeho are employed indghhotel and restaurant
industry, including a hotel restamtawho customarily and regularly receive gratuities . . . .")
(quoting GNN. GEN. STAT. § 31-60(b)(1)).

The precise interaction between these diffestate statutes and the payment of tip
credits or service chargeshtanquet servers who operate @nd collective bargaining
agreement does not appear to have been saltidy any Connecticut state court. Connecticut
state courts therefore shouldvieahe first opportunity to do s8ee Kolarj 455 F.3d at 124
(“We have repeatedly held that a district cqatticularly abuses its stiretion when it retains
jurisdiction over state-law claintaising unsettled questionslafv following dismissal of all
original-jurisdiction clams.”) (collecting casesgeabrook v. Jacobsph53 F.3d 70, 72 (2d Cir.
1998) (“Where a pendent state claim turns on noveinresolved questions of state law . . .

principles of federalism and comity may dicttiat these questions be left for decision by the

16 The parties refer to these statutes as “Connectisa® payment law,” or “Connecticut Wage Payment Laws.”
The statute in question falls under Chapter 558 of the Connecticut General Statutes. Chapter 558 does not itself
provide a short title for the law, but a separate state staquiring employers to fuish records refers to these
sections, ONN. GEN. STAT. § 31-58et seq, as the “Connecticut Minimum Wage Act.bEN. GEN. STAT. § 31-13a.
Research on the caselaw suggests that some courtad@ued “Connecticut Wage Payment Law” to describe

§ 31-71e specificallySeeSearch Results for “Connecticut Wage Payment Law” in Jurisdictions: Connectiéiit & 2
Circuit, WESTLAWNEXT, https://next.westlaw.com (@. 10, 2018) (13 cases).
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state courts. This is particularly true if theléeal claim on which theate claim hangs has been
dismissed.”).

The Court therefore declines to exer@gs@plemental jurisdiction over the remaining
state law claims and dismisses Count Two fontved jurisdiction, without prejudice to refiling
in state court.

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Defendants’ motion for summary judgm8RANTED IN
PART AND DENIED IN PART . Defendants’ motion is granted with respect to the federal
claims, but denied with respeo the Connecticut law clais, which are hereby dismissed
without prejudice to reling in state court.

The Clerk of the Court is spectfully directed to entgudgment for Defendants as to
Count One only and to close this case.

SO ORDERED at Bridgeport, Connecticut, this 15th day of March, 2018.

/s/ Victor A. Bolden
VICTOR A. BOLDEN
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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